FILED Court of Appeals Division II State of Washington 10/20/2021 3:50 PM FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 10/21/2021 BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK

Supreme Court No. 100312-9 Court of Appeals, Div II No. 53381-2-II

## IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

## TERRI LYN HALL,

Appellant,

v.

GROUP HEALTH COOPERATIVE,

Respondents.

### APPELLANT'S PETITION FOR REVIEW

Ron Meyers WSBA No. 13169 Matthew Johnson WSBA No. 27976 Tim Friedman WSBA No. 37983 Attorneys for Appellant

> Ron Meyers & Associates, PLLC 8765 Tallon Ln. NE, Suite A Olympia, WA 98516 (360) 459-5600

#

### **III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW**

Should the Supreme Court accept review under RAP 13.4(b)(1), (2) and (4), when the Appellate Court's decision violated longstanding decisions of this Court and the Appellate Court and where the issue involves a substantial public interest in need of determination by the Supreme Court? **YES**.

### **IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

#### A. Background Facts

Terri Hall started a premises liability personal injury lawsuit against Labor 1992 Corporation ("L92C"), in Thurston County Superior Court (hereafter the "tort case"). *CP 1558-1565*. Ms. Hall's economic damages exceeded \$700,000. Her past and future wage and benefit net loss due to the incident was \$484,199. *CP 1728-1761*. L92C admitted (CR36) to over \$200,000 of reasonable causally-related necessary medical expenses. *CP 1463-1552*.

Group Health Cooperative ("GHC") was Ms. Hall's health insurer. GHC claims that it paid \$83,580.66 of Ms. Hall's medical expenses incurred as a result of the injuries she suffered. *CP 1349.* 

Ms. Hall's case against L92C involved evidence of comparative fault. CP 1633-1634, *1617-1619; 1621-1624*. Despite her past medical history (of her knee giving way on her, weakness and difficulty with stairs, feeling of instability in her

2

right knee, near fall on several occasions, trouble going up and down stairs, unstable right knee and her knee collapsing) - she took the stairs instead of an available ramp.

Rather than focusing on safely descending the stairs, Ms. Hall thought she was **turned**, **talking to her friend** as she descended the stairs. *CP 1626*. Ms. Hall got to the end of the stairway handrail, **assumed** that she was on the sidewalk, and proceeded to step onto the edge of one of the stairs and then fell. *CP 1627-1629*. Ms. Hall's tort case also involved evidence of relevant prior medical history and pre-existing medical conditions. *See e.g. CP 1581-1583, 1585-1586, 1588-1594, 1598, 1604, 1608, 1610, 1612- 1614*.

Ms. Hall settled her tort case against L92C for \$600,000. Her settlement does not fully compensate her for her losses sustained - but she settled in the face of evidence of comparative fault.

### B. GHC committed bad faith and CPA violations.

GHC sued Ms. Hall, claiming that Ms. Hall breached the insurance contract and that GHC is entitled to the full amount of its Medical Expenses, without having to pay its pro rata share of fees and costs. CP 1- 6.

GHC repeatedly engaged in unfair and deceptive acts, bad faith conduct, and bullying of its insured – causing damages to Ms. Hall. Ms. Hall countersued GHC for bad faith, CPA violation and breach of contract. *CP 15-25*.

Ms. Hall filed a motion for partial summary judgment, seeking dismissal of GHC's breach of contract claim. *CP 1431-1455*. GHC filed a motion for summary judgment, claiming that it had a valid and enforceable claim for reimbursement against Ms. Hall and seeking an order that Ms. Hall to pay GHC the **full** amount of its outstanding subrogation/reimbursement plus pre-judgment interest and that dismissed Ms. Hall's counterclaims. *CP 1345-1369*.

The Superior Court granted GHC's MSJ, and subsequently entered judgment in GHC's favor for the entire Medical Expense amount. *CP 1920-1922; 1945-1948.* The Superior Court denied Ms. Hall's motion for partial summary judgment. *CP 1926-1928.* 

Ms. Hall appealed. The Appellate Court issued an unpublished opinion on January 5, 2021 affirming the Superior Court's decisions.

Ms. Hall filed a motion for reconsideration. On July 27, 2021, the Appellate Court issued an "Order Granting [Ms. Hall's] Motion For Reconsideration And Withdrawing Opinion". The Appellate Court withdrew its January 5, 2021 opinion, and on August 3, 2021 the Appellate Court issued its new unpublished opinion. The Appellate Court held as follows:

1. The Superior Court erred by granting summary judgment in favor of Group Health;

2. The Superior Court's partial summary judgment dismissal of Ms. Hall's counterclaim for breach of contract is reversed;

5

3. The Superior Court's partial summary judgment dismissal of Ms. Hall's counterclaims of bad faith and CPA violations is affirmed; and

4. The case is remanded to the Superior Court for further proceedings consistent with the opinion.

The Appellate Court affirmed the dismissal of Ms. Hall's counterclaims as a matter of law, and also determined that Ms. Hall had a duty to cooperate under the contract. The Appellate Court failed to apply and follow the rules that govern those issues. That is not justice. Ms. Hall filed a motion for reconsideration. The Appellate Court denied the motion. This Petition follows.

#### V. ARGUMENT

## A. The contract limits its cooperation provision to GHC's "efforts to collect" Medical Expenses – not investigating or determining made whole.

The GHC insurance contract explicitly limits its cooperation provisions to GHC's "efforts to collect" or "in recovery of" its medical expenses. The specific terms "efforts to collect its Medical Expenses" and "in recovery of its Medical

Expenses" are literally in the contract:

The Injured Person and his/her agents shall cooperate fully with GHC in its efforts to collect GHC's Medical Expenses. [Emph added].

If the Injured Person fails to cooperate fully with GHC in recovery of GHC's Medical Expenses, the Injured Person shall be responsible for directly reimbursing GHC for 100% of GHC's Medical Expenses. [Emph added].

*CP 1708-1709*.

Rule No. 1: "The duty to cooperate exists only in relation

to performance of a specific contract term." Badgett v. Sec. State

Bank, 116 Wash. 2d 563, 570, 807 P.2d 356 (1991).

Rule No. 2: Undefined terms in an insurance policy are given their ordinary and common meaning. *See Moeller v. Farmers Ins. Co. of Washington,* 173 Wash. 2d 264, 272, 267 P.3d 998 (2011).

To "collect" or to "recover" is not the same as to "evaluate" or "investigate."

"Recover" means: "To get back : REGAIN". www.merriam-webster.com/dictionary/recover. "Recovery" means: "[T]he act, process or an instance of recovering." www.merriam-webster.com/dictionary/recovery.

"Collect" means "to receive, gather, or exact from a number of persons or other sources." Webster's Third New International Dictionary 444 (2002)." *Jumamil v. Lakeside Casino*, LLC, 179 Wash. App. 665, 690, 319 P.3d 868 (2014).

"Evaluate" means: "[T]o determine or fix the value of." www.merriam-webster.com/dictionary/evaluate.

"Investigate" means: "[T]o observe or study by close examination and systematic inquiry." <u>www.merriam-webster.com/dictionary/investigate.</u>

The distinction between efforts to collet medical expenses and determining GHC's reimbursement rights, is so clear that even the GHC contract makes the distinction. The contract provision that Ms. Hall hold settlement funds in trust demands that she do so "until GHC's subrogation and reimbursement rights are fully determined". CP 1708, 1709, respectively.

**Rule No. 3:** "We view an insurance contract in its entirety and cannot interpret a phrase in isolation." *Moeller, id* at 271.

Rule No. 4: "Insurance contracts are construed strictly against the insurer and liberally in favor of the insured." *Metro*. *Mortgage & Sec. Co. v. Reliable Ins. Co.*, 64 Wn.2d 98, 100, 390 P.2d 694 (1964).

No average person purchasing insurance would understand the contract, as it is written, to force Ms. Hall to assist GHC in "collecting" money from a common fund that does not fully compensate Ms. Hall. The contract explicitly bars GHC from having a right to reimbursement in such situations:

> GHC's subrogation and reimbursement rights shall be limited to the excess of the amount required to fully compensate the Injured Person for the loss sustained, including general damages.

*CP 1708*.

**Rule No. 5:** "It is well established that the language of an insurance policy should be interpreted in accordance with the way

it would be understood by the average man purchasing insurance." Ames v. Baker, 68 Wash. 2d 713, 716, 415 P.2d 74 (1966) See also Boeing Co. v. Aetna Cas. & Sur. Co., 113 Wn.2d 869, 784 P.2d 507 (1990) See also Kent Farms, Inc. v. Zurich Ins. Co., 140 Wash. 2d 396, 399, 998 P.2d 292 (2000).

Even if "efforts to collect its Medical Expenses" were susceptible to an interpretation other than what it says, the Court must (but did not) apply the interpretation most favorable to the insured.

**Rule No. 6:** "When a policy is fairly susceptible of two different interpretations, that interpretation most favorable to the insured **must be** applied, even though a different meaning may have been intended by the insurer." [Bold added]. *Ames, id* at 717.

Rule No. 7: "Insurance contracts are construed strictly against the insurer and liberally in favor of the insured." *Metro*. *Mortgage & Sec. Co. Id, at* 100. **Rule No. 8:** "The whole panoply of contract law rests on the principle that one is bound by the contract which he voluntarily and knowingly signs." *Donatelli v. D.R. Strong Consulting Engineers, Inc.,* 179 Wn.2d 84, 113, 312 P.3d 620 (2013), quoting *Nat'l Bank v. Equity Investors,* 81 Wash.2d 886, 912–13, 506 P.2d 20 (1973).

The Court violated these well-settled rules, injected language and an insurer-skewed interpretation into the contract, and as a result, concluded that "Hall and her attorneys had a duty to cooperate under the MCA."

## B. Dismissal of Ms. Hall's counterclaim for insurance bad faith was based on failures to apply the rules set out by this Court.

In its analysis of the bad-faith counterclaim (question of fact), the Appellate Court held that GHC was "within **its right** to pursue **its right** to reimbursement under the policy and to request information from Hall and her attorneys in order to **investigate** and **determine** whether Hall had been fully compensated." [Bold

added].

First, GHC has no "right" to reimbursement. See GHC contract's made whole provision. [Bold added] CP 1708. The law also bars a right to reimbursement when, as here, the insured is not fully compensated.

**Rule No. 9:** "Wherever they [subrogation rights] reside, it has long been recognized that such rights are subject to the principle that an insured must be "made whole" for any losses before an insurer may recover its payments: [...]" *Grp. Health Coop. v. Coon,* 193 Wash. 2d 841, 850, 447 P.3d 139 (2019). "Even if this court were to find that GHO's right to direct reimbursement is not dependent on its right to subrogation, the fact remains that, if Coon has not been "made whole," no right to reimbursement ever arises." *id., at* 852.

The **facts** prove that Ms. Hall's economic damages alone exceeded the settlement amount, but the facts also show evidence of comparative fault and pre-existing medical conditions. The facts prove that Ms. Hall was not fully compensated, in the face of evidence of comparative fault.

Second, the Appellate Court is also wrong because the insurance contract's cooperation provisions do **not** force Ms. Hall to assist GHC in "investigating" or "determining" its "right to reimbursement." That is not what the contract states, and that conclusion hinges on the complete disregard of Rules 1-9 above.

GHC engaged in a pattern of sending letters to either Ms. Hall or Ms. Hall's attorney (or both) that were misleading and that misrepresented its policy and its subrogation rights. *CP* 752 (*RFA* 210) and *CP* 1810-1850; *CP* 1296-1297.

The Appellate Court focused on whether the letters were "collection" letters, rather than whether they were misleading and deceptive. First, subrogation activities can be "collection" activities:

**Rule No. 10:** The CPA is applicable to deceptive insurance subrogation collection activities, considering the broad legislative

mandate that the business of insurance is vital to the public interest, the public policies favoring honest debt collection, and the statutory mandate to liberally construe the CPA in order to protect the public from inventive attempts to engage in unfair and deceptive business practices. *Panag v. Farmers Ins. Co. of Washington,* 166 Wash. 2d 27, 55, 204 P.3d 885 (2009)

Second, GHC sent over ten letters to Ms. Hall – and each of those letters included the material misrepresentation that at the time of settlement, payment of GHC's reimbursement "should be made" by check and payable to GHC. [Bold added]. *CP 752* (*RFA 210*) and *CP 1810-1850*. "Should" means: "Used in auxiliary function to express obligation, propriety, or expediency."

# https://www.merriam-webster.com/dictionary/should.

Pursuant to the GHC contract and Washington law, payment should **not** be made to GHC if Ms. Hall is not made whole. In each of these GHC letters, GHC omitted that GHC's contract has a "made whole" provision, barring GHC's right to reimbursement if Ms. Hall is not fully compensated. That is material omitted information - going to the heart of whether reimbursement "should be made" at the time of settlement. The GHC letters are misleading, deceptive and a misrepresentation of GHC's subrogation rights.

GHC took overt actions (i.e. repeatedly sending written correspondence) that omitted material policy provisions, that misrepresented its subrogation rights, and that mislead (rather than inform) Ms. Hall about her rights under the contract and Washington subrogation law.

**Rule No. 11:** "Even accurate information may be deceptive " 'if there is a representation, omission or practice that is likely to mislead.' *"" Bain v. Metro. Mortg. Grp., Inc.,* 175 Wash. 2d 83, 115, 285 P.3d 34 (2012).

**Rule No. 12:** It is an unfair method of competition and an unfair or deceptive act or practice in the business of insurance, specifically to the settlement of claims, for an insurer to

misrepresent pertinent facts. WAC 284-30-330(1).

**Rule No. 13:** An insurance company's duty of good faith rises to an even higher level than that of honesty and lawfulness of purpose toward its policyholders: an insurer must deal **fairly** with an insured, giving **equal consideration** in all matters to the **insured's interests**. *See Tank v. State Farm Fire & Cas. Co.,* 105 Wash. 2d 381, 386, 715 P.2d 1133 (1986).

**Rule No. 14:** The business of insurance is one affected by the public interest, requiring that all persons be actuated by good faith, abstain from deception, and practice honesty and equity in all insurance matters. *See RCW* 48.01.030.

In addition to those letters, GHC sent another misleading and deceptive subrogation letter, which stated in part: "Through this contractual clause and principles of equity, Group Health is entitled to reimbursement for its medical treatment given to a patient where the injury is caused by the act or omission of a third party and where the patient obtains a settlement or judgment against the third party." *CP 1221 [section 8] and 1296.* This is misleading and deceptive, and it is a misrepresentation because of what GHC *failed* to disclose – that its contract and case law bar its right to reimbursement when the insured is not fully compensated.

The Appellate Court rationalized GHC's conduct in this letter by stating that in an earlier letter, GHC "told Hall that it would have a right to reimbursement 'if the at-fault party is liable and the at-fault party has sufficient assets to compensate you."" That is not the law, and it is another misrepresentation by GHC. Whether or not the "at fault party has sufficient assets to compensate [the insured]" does not determine whether GHC has a right to reimbursement. The determining factor is whether the insured is fully compensated by the relevant applicable measure of damages (not the sufficiency of the liable third party's assets). The inquiry, of whether the insured is fully compensated by the relevant applicable measure of damages, is made without concern for whether the loss is fully or only partially insured or whether the insured was party at fault:

**Rule No. 15:** The Washington State Supreme Court in *Sherry v. Fin. Indem. Co.,* 160 Wn.2d 611, 619, 160 P.3d 31 (2007), provided a two-prong test for an insurer's entitlement to reimbursement: (1) when the contract itself authorizes it, and (2) when the insured is fully compensated by the relevant "applicable measure of damages".

**Rule No. 16:** "The question of reimbursement concerns only whether an insured has been fully compensated for its loss. This inquiry does not depend upon whether the loss is fully or only partially insured. Neither does it depend upon whether the insured itself was the cause of some part of the loss." [footnotes omitted] *S&K Motors, Inc. v. Harco Nat. Ins. Co.,* 151 Wash.App. 633,641–42, 213 P.3d 630 (2009).

**Rule No. 17:** The measure of damages in tort actions is that indemnity which will afford an adequate compensation to a person for the loss suffered or the injury sustained by him as the direct, natural, and proximate consequence of the wrongful act or omission. *Burr v. Clark*, 30 Wash. 2d 149, 158, 190 P.2d 769 (1948).

**Rule No. 18:** "[t]here is no other precedent for the position that settlement for less than the tortfeasor's policy limits somehow raises a presumption of full compensation or otherwise prejudices the insured's PIP benefits. *Liberty Mut. Ins. Co. v. Tripp*, 144 Wash. 2d 1, 22, 25 P.3d 997 (2001).

GHC's counsel continued this pattern of bad faith letterwriting before suing Ms. Hall.

In his April 5, 2016 letter, GHC's attorney stated he would review the file and would be in touch. The letter did not request any information from Ms. Hall or her attorney. *CP 1201*.

In his April 27, 2016 letter to Ms. Hall's attorney, GHC counsel determined that GHC was "[e]ntitled to be reimbursed for the amounts it expended for Ms. Hall's medical care." *CP 1207*. GHC now claims that GHC had no way to evaluate whether Ms. Hall was not made whole, which means that the April 27, 20165 letter was another false representation. This letter did not request

any information from Ms. Hall or her attorneys.

In his May 5, 2016 email, GHC counsel stated, "I have not received any of the records I requested in my last letter to you." *CP 1213*. That was misleading, as his April 27, 2016 letter did not specifically request any records from Ms. Hall or her attorney. It stated, "should you wish to provide additional evidence to support your claim [...] we would, of course, be willing to review the same." *CP1207*.

In his June 10, 2016 letter, GHC's counsel falsely stated, "In my letter of April 5, 2016, I requested that you provide our office with certain information in support of your claim . ... " *CP 1217.* That was a false statement. Judge Maxa, in his dissent of the January 5, 2021 opinion, wrote, "That statement was false." The April 5, 2016 letter did not request any information from Ms. Hall. *CP 1201.* 

The June 10, 2016 letter from GHC counsel quoted the cooperation provisions of the insurance contract, but it omitted the contract's made whole provision, which bars any right to reimbursement when the insured is not fully compensated.

This June 10, 2016 letter reveals that GHC based its "failure to cooperate" claim on three baseless, bad faith, conclusions: (1) That GHC was not promptly notified of a tentative settlement; (2) that GHC's "rights to reimbursement" were prejudiced, and (3) that there was a failure to "cooperate with Group Health and provide requested information". CP 1218.

As to (1), GHC's file note of March 30, 2016 states: ""Recd cl from [Ms. Hall's attorney] Tim Freeman [sic]. [. . .] Case did not resolve at mediation, but now they have an acceptable offer of \$600k." *CP 1806*. This means that GHC's own documentation evidences that as of **March 30, 2016**, GHC was aware that Ms. Hall had an acceptable offer of \$600,000. *CP 1806*. The Release was not signed until April 5, 2016. *CP 1578*. The settlement check was not received until April 7, 2016. *CP 1859*.

As to (2), GHC had no right to reimbursement, but if it did,

its rights were not prejudiced by Ms. Hall signing a release.

Rule No. 19: When, as here, the insured brings a claim against the third party, the means by which the subrogated insurer can recover from the responsible third party is not to standing the insured's shoes, but to seek reimbursement from the insured's recovery (i.e. a lien). See Daniels v. State Farm Mut. Auto. Ins. Co., 193 Wn.2d 563, 570, 444 P.3d 582 (2019). Ms. Hall did not abandon her "shoes". She sued L92C and included in that suit a claim for her medical expenses incurred as a result of the injury. CP 1558-1565. If GHC had a right to reimbursement, its enforcement mechanism is a claim against the recovery Ms. Hall secured from L92C, and the reimbursement would be at most \$45,002.91 because of the equity sharing rule. Ms. Hall signing the release in no way prejudiced GHC's purported subrogation rights, as her attorney continues to hold \$45,002.91 (disputed funds) in trust.

As to (3), even if the cooperation provision applied to

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