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

Ins. Co. v. Peasley, 131 Wash.2d 420, 423-24 (1997)). An 

insurance contract should be viewed in its entirety; a phrase 

cannot be interpreted in isolation, and the court should attempt 

to give effect to each provision in the policy. Moeller, 173 

Wn.2d at 271-72. Unless a provision is susceptible to two 

different interpretations, it should be interpreted in accordance 

with its ordinary meaning. See, Ames v. Baker, 68 Wn.2d 713, 

716,415 P.2d 74, 76 (1966). 
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Hall's medical coverage with GHC is governed by the 

MCA. (CP 1665-1726). This contract clearly defined the nature 

and scope of the cooperation required: "The Injured Person and 

his/her agents shall cooperate fully with GHC in its efforts to 

collect GHC's Medical Expenses." The MCA goes on to state: 

This cooperation includes, but is not limited to, 
supplying GHC with information about the cause 
of injury or illness, any potentially liable third 
parties, defendants and/or insures related to the 
Injured Person's claim and informing GHC of any 
settlement or other payments relating to the Injured 
Person's injury. 

The MCA also states that: 

To the extent that the Injured Person recovers 
funds from any source that may serve to 
compensate for medical injuries or medical 
expenses, the Injured Person agrees to hold such 
monies in trust or in a separate identifiable account 
until GHC's subrogation and reimbursement rights 
are fully determined ... 

"Cooperation is essential to the insurance relationship 

because that relationship involves a continuous exchange of 

information between an insurer and an insured interspersed 
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with activities that affect the rights of both, and the relationship 

can function only if both sides cooperate." 16 Williston on 

Contracts § 49:108 (4th ed.). Notably, the MCA did not limit 

cooperation to efforts to collect from third parties. (CP 1708). 

Hall's attempt to distinguish the meaning of the words 

"collect" "recover" "evaluate " and "investigate" in its petition 
' ' ' 

to this Court are entirely unpersuasive. The term at issue here is 

"cooperate." It is clearly defined and should be interpreted 

using the meaning assigned to it in the MCA. Therefore, Hall 

had a duty to cooperate, i.e. supply information related to the 

cause of injury, liability, and settlement, with GHC in GHC's 

efforts to collect reimbursement of its expended funds from any 

source. 

Hall would also like this Court to overlook the fact that 

Hall's position is, and has always been, that she never owed 

GHC a duty to cooperate. 
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The Court: So up to this day - - your client still 
has zero obligation to cooperate with Group Health 
according to your argument; is that correct? 

Mr. Friedman: To cooperate under the 
cooperation clause at issue in this case, the one that 
specifically couched in terms of their recovery of 
or their collection of their medical expenses, yes. 

The Court: Let's just talk about in general. 

Mr. Friedman: Okay. 

The Court: Based on any clause in the contract, 
it's your position that your client has no obligation 
up until today to cooperate with Group Health? 

(Nov. 2, 2018 RP at 57-58) 

The Court: Can you answer my question? 

Mr. Friedman: Yes. So if they have not-if she 
is not made whole, and if they - - more 
importantly, if they haven't proven, if they haven't 
satisfied their burden to establish she is made 
whole, there is no duty to cooperate. 

(Nov. 2, 2018 RP at 58) 

The Court: Can you answer my question? 

Mr. Friedman: There is no duty to cooperate. 

The Court: Up until today? 
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Mr. Friedman: Up until today. 

(Nov. 2, 2018 RP at 59) 

The Court of Appeals poignantly revealed the absurdity 

of this position. 

If insureds are not required to cooperate until an 
insurer proves the insured is made whole, an 
insured's duty of cooperation would never arise 
because an insurer cannot provide that the insured 
has been made whole without the insured's 
cooperation. 

Grp. Health Coop. v. Hall, 53381-2-II, 2021 WL 
3361789, at *6 (Wash. Ct. App. Aug. 3, 2021). 

Hall fails to show that the Court of Appeals decision 

regarding her duty to cooperate is in conflict with any decision 

of this Court or any other decision of the Court of Appeals. In 

the absence of any such showing, the Court should deny this 

petition for review. 

C. Hall's Duty To Cooperate 

The Court of Appeals decision regarding Hall's duty to 

cooperate is in accordance with this Court's previous decisions. 
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The scope of Hall's duty to cooperate with GHC is first 

determined by the relevant policy language. See, Tran v. State 

Farm Fire & Cas. Co., 136 Wn.2d 214, 225, 961 P.2d 358, 363 

(1998) ("[T]o determine the scope of [an insured's] duty to 

cooperate with the insurer, we must first look to the relevant 

policy language."). The only limitation to the scope of the duty 

to cooperate is that GHC's "request for information must be 

material to the circumstances giving rise to liability on its part." 

Id. at 224. "Information is material when it 'concerns a subject 

relevant and germane to the insurer's investigation as it was 

then proceeding' at the time the inquiry was made." Id. 

(citing Fine v. Bellefonte Underwriters Ins. Co., 725 F.2d 179, 

183 (2d Cir. 1984)). 

In Tran, this Court upheld the trial court's dismissal of 

the plaintiffs claims for declaratory relief, damages, and relief 

under the Consumer Protection Act on summary judgment due 

to the plaintiffs failure to comply with the cooperation clause 
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under the policy. Tran, 136 Wn.2d at 222. The plaintiffs duty 

to cooperate contained in the policy provided: 

3. Duties in the Event of Loss. You must see that 

the following are done in the event of loss to 

covered property: 

e. at our request, give us complete inventories of 

the damaged and undamaged property. Include 

quantities, costs, values and amount of loss 

claimed; 

f. permit us to inspect the property and records 

proving the loss; 

g. if requested, permit us to question you under 

oath at such times as may be reasonably required 

about any matter relating to this insurance or your 

claim, including your books and records . ... 

i. cooperate with us in the investigation or 

settlement of the claim; 

Id. at 225 ( emphasis in original text). The plaintiff had 

submitted a claim for theft from his business and submitted an 

inventory form, but refused to provide additional 

documentation that described or placed a value on the items 

listed despite several request by the insurer. Id. at 218-19. 
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Believing the plaintiff was attempting to commit fraud, the 

insurer requested access to the plaintiffs financial records 

under the cooperation clause. Id. at 226. The plaintiff refused 

and the trial court found this failure to be a breach of the 

policy's cooperation clause and prejudicial to the insurer. This 

Court, agreeing with the trial court, found that the possibility of 

fraud was distinct, that the plaintiffs financial records were 

relevant and material, and that the plaintiff had a duty to 

cooperate as a matter oflaw. Id. at 227-228. 

Similarly, GHC's cooperation clause required Hall and 

her attorneys to "cooperate fully with GHC in its efforts to 

collect GHC's Medical Expenses." (CP 1708). The MCA 

expressly stated that such cooperation required Hall to supply 

GHC with information about the cause of her injury, any 

potentially liable third parties, defendants and/or insureds 

related to her claim, and to inform GHC of any settlement or 

other payments relating to her injury. (CP 1708). 

16 



The Court of Appeals and the Trial Court have properly 

recognized that the process of obtaining reimbursement for 

GHC paid medical expenses requires obtaining information 

from Hall, determining whether Hall has been made whole, and 

then taking appropriate action to seek or not seek 

reimbursement. 

As in Tran, the need for the requested information was 

distinct under the MCA for purposes of evaluating Hall's claim 

that she was not made whole. The information was relevant and 

material to GHC's review of their ability to recover under the 

policy. The MCA clearly and unambiguously provided that Hall 

had a duty to cooperate and provide such information to GHC 

as it undertook its review. 

The Court of Appeals has properly held that Hall had a 

duty under the MCA to cooperate with GHC. Hall has failed to 

provide any contrary authority, and, therefore, her petition for 

review should be denied. 
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D. The Dismissal of Hall's Counterclaim for Insurance 
Bad Faith was Appropriate. 

Insurance bad faith claims are analyzed the same as any 

other tort and require the showing of a duty, a breach of that 

duty, and proximate cause. Smith v. Safeco Ins. Co., 150 Wn.2d 

478, 485, 78 P.3d 1274, 1277 (2003). To succeed, "a 

policyholder must show the insurer's breach of the insurance 

contract was unreasonable, frivolous, or unfounded." Id. The 

entirety of Hall's bad faith claim is based upon the underlying 

premise that GHC's request for pertinent information related to 

Hall's claim that she was not made whole under the MCA's 

cooperation clause was improper. 

Hall first asserts that the Court of Appeals wrongly held 

that GHC had a right to pursue reimbursement and to request 

information in order to investigate and determine whether Hall 

had been fully compensated. Appellant's Petition for Review 

(hereinafter, Brief of Appellant,) pg. 12. Hall relies on Grp. 

Health Coop. v. Coon, 193 Wn.2d 841, for the premise that the 
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right to reimbursement doesn't accrue if the policyholder had 

not been "made whole," and, therefore, GHC has no right to 

even investigate whether Hall had been fully compensated or 

not. Id. Hall ignores that cooperation with GHC was a 

necessary prerequisite to GHC' s analysis as to whether she had 

been made whole. 

The MCA"s cooperation clause reqmres that Hall 

"cooperate fully with GHC in its efforts to collect GHC's 

Medical Expenses." It is not limited to efforts to collect medical 

expenses from third parties. GHC's request for documentation 

proving that Hall had not been made whole was reasonable. 

GHC did not act improperly by asking Hall to cooperate with 

its investigation of its right to reimbursement. 

Hall next asserts that GHC engaged m bad faith by 

sending letters to her attorney that included "material 

misrepresentations" and "mislead Ms. Hall about the rights 

under the contract and Washington subrogation law." Brief of 
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Appellant, pg. 14. Hall avers that GHC's instruction that 

payment should be made by check and payable at the time of 

settlement and should be made to Group Health was a material 

misrepresentation. Id. In doing so Hall's attorney disregards 

previous correspondence in which GHC told Hall that it would 

have the right to reimbursement "if the at-fault party is liable 

and the at-fault party has sufficient assets to compensate you." 

(CP 112 ( emphasis added)). Hall also fails to explain how the 

alleged misrepresentation proximately caused any damages to 

her, given that her attorney was undisputedly aware of the 

"made whole" doctrine. (CP 1209). 

Hall further asserts that GHC's counsel engaged in bad 

faith letter writing in a series of correspondence in 2016 dated 

April 5, April 27, May 5, and June 10. Brief of Appellant, pg. 

19-21. Hall incorrectly argues that April 27 letter from counsel 

for GHC "did not specifically request any information from Ms. 

Hall." Id. In fact, what counsel communicated was, with the 
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information it had to date, GHC had determined Hall owed 

GHC reimbursement and if Hall disagreed, she should provide 

evidence to support her position. (CP 1201, 1206, and 1207). 

Hall did not provide any of the evidence identified in the April 

27, 2016 letter, and she did not pay GHC its reimbursement. 

Instead, her attorneys continued to make threats against GHC 

and its counsel and maintained that there was no valid 

reimbursement claim. As a result, counsel for GHC agam 

requested the documentation identified in its April 2 7, 2016 

letter. The records were requested on May 5, 2016 (CP 1213), 

and again Hall refused to provide those records. (CP 1217-

1218). 

Finally, Hall argues that she did in fact cooperate and that 

GHC had the information they were entitled to under the 

MCA's cooperation clause. Brief of Appellant, pg. 23. This is 

patently untrue. The record shows that Hall withheld all 

documentary evidence related to her claims. (CP 1209). There 
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is no scenario under the established facts of this case, whereby 

GHC had any of the necessary documentary evidence prior to 

filing a declaratory action against Hall. The documentation Hall 

withheld were related to her claims and the underlying litigation 

and contained significant, material evidence that directly 

contradicted her made whole claim, and that is why she refused 

to provide them, refused to cooperate, and threatened GHC and 

its counsel for even requesting the very information it required 

to evaluate her claims. 

Again, Hall fails to cite a specific decision of this Court 

or the Court of Appeals that would dictate a decision different 

than that which has already been provided. For this reason, and 

the reasons provided above, review should be denied. 

E. The Dismissal of Hall's Counterclaim for Violation of 
the Consumer Protection Act was Appropriate. 

Hall relies heavily on her bad faith claim as the basis for 

her claim for violation of the Consumer Protection Act ("CPA") 

without any reference or analysis to the five-element test 
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provided in Hangman Ridge Training Stables, Inc. v Safeco 

Title Ins. Co. See, 105 Wn.2d 778, 780, 719 P.2d 531 (1986). 

Even if bad faith is found, it does not constitute a per se 

violation of the CPA. See, Villegas v. Nationstar Mortgage, 

LLC, 8 Wn. App. 2d 878, 895, 444 P.3d 14, 22, review 

denied, 194 Wn.2d 1006, 451 P.3d 343 (2019) (There is "no 

authority in support of the proposition that a bad faith finding 

per se satisfies the CPA's injury requirement."). Furthermore, 

as has been demonstrated, GHC did not act improperly by 

asking Hall to cooperate with its investigation of the its right of 

reimbursement. 

The only other argument Hall has raised in regard to the 

CPA is a single violation of WAC 284-30-330, and that in tum 

is a per se violation of the CPA. GHC is a nonprofit health 

maintenance organization ("HMO"). (CP1665) (emphasis 

added). Hall claims that she "has shown in detail how GHC has 

violated WAC 284-30-330" in support of her claim for a per se 
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violation of the CPA. Brief of Appellant, pg. 28. For purposes 

of WAC 284-30-300 through 284-30-400, "Insurer" is defined 

as: 

any individual, corporation, association, 
partnership, reciprocal exchange, interinsurer, 
fraternal mutual insurer, fraternal mutual life 
insurer, and any other legal entity engaged in the 
business of insurance, authorized or licensed to 
issue or who issues any insurance policy or 
insurance contract in this state. WAC 284-30-320 
(10). 

WAC 284-30-320(10) goes on to state that insurer does 

not include health maintenance organizations. ( emphasis 

added). Therefore, as a matter of law, GHC is incapable of 

violating WAC 284-30-330, and the Court of Appeals decision 

to dismiss her claim for violation of the CPA was in accordance 

with the plain language of the cited administrative code. See, 

Leingang v. Pierce Cty. Med. Bureau, Inc., 131 Wn.2d 133, 

151, 930 P.2d 288, 297 (1997) (Washington Supreme Court 

finding that the failure to meet the definition of "Insurer" under 
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WAC 284-30-320 precludes the application of WAC 284-30-

330). 

F. The Decision of the Court of Appeals Does Not 
Involve an Issue of Substantial Public Interest. 

Hall fails to address and provides no legal authority as to 

how the Court of Appeals decision involves a substantial public 

interest as required by RAP 13 .4(b )( 4 ). Seemingly tying it to 

the public interest prong of her failed CPA claim, Hall's 

petition under this standard must similarly fail as GHC is 

incapable of violating the CPA under the claims alleged by 

Hall. 

This Court has stated that "substantial public interest" 

refers to issues with "sweeping implications." State v. Watson, 

155 Wn.2d 574, 578, 122 P.3d 903, 904 (2005). A prime 

example of an issue of substantial public interest must not only 

affect the parties to the proceeding, but must also affect every 

future proceeding in which a parties subrogation and/or right of 

reimbursement is at issue. See, Id. at 577. The Court of 
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Appeal's decision is without any such sweeping implications as 

it is unpublished decision, with no precedential value, and only 

affects Hall. As a result, Hall's petition for review should be 

denied. 

VI. CONCLUSION 

Hall has failed to meet her burden under RAP 13 .4(b) in 

all respects. The Court of Appeals decision follows well settled 

law and is appropriate. As a result, GHC respectfully requests 

that Hall's petition for review be denied.